**THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In the Court of Appeals**

**RECEIVED**

\_\_\_\_\_  
**APPEAL FROM CHARLESTON COUNTY**  
The Honorable Mikell R. Scarborough, Master in Equity

**MAY 13 2019**

**SC Court of Appeals**

\_\_\_\_\_  
Appellate Case No. 2018-001971  
\_\_\_\_\_

RS Custom Homes, n/k/a RS General Contracting, LLC,.....Respondent

v.

Matthew David DeNapoli, Lindsay Ann DeNapoli, Branch Banking & Trust, N.A., and  
Mortgage Electronic Registration Systems, Inc.,

Of whom, Matthew David DeNapoli, Lindsay Ann DeNapoli are ..... Appellants

\_\_\_\_\_  
**APPELLANTS' INITIAL BRIEF**  
\_\_\_\_\_

THOMAS J. RODE, SC Bar No. 77480  
THURMOND KIRCHNER & TIMBES, P.A.

## INTRODUCTION

This matter presents a question of law as to the interpretation of an unambiguous “fixed price” construction contract between the respondent R.S. Custom Homes (“Contractor”) and the appellants Matthew and Lindsey DeNapoli (“Owner”). This court should reverse the trial court’s interpretation and award of damages as to do otherwise would be to abandon mutual consent as an element of a contract and find, as a matter of law, that where a contractor later finds the terms of his contract unfavorable, he is entitled to recover his costs plus a judicially imposed profit rather than what is provided for by contract.

## ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. The trial court committed an error of law by interpreting the contract as a “cost plus” contract which is unsupported by the plain language of the agreement, the testimony of the parties, and the Court’s own conclusions that the subject contract was a fixed price contract.
- II. The trial court committed an error of law in awarding prejudgment interest on an unliquidated sum.
- III. The trial court committed an error of law by finding the subject mechanic’s lien was valid and awarding profit and overhead as a lienable amount where the contract did not provide for such profit and overhead above the fixed price contract amount.

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Contractor substantially completed construction under its \$737,544.00 fixed price<sup>1</sup> contract on August 6, 2014. Realizing its actual costs were higher than anticipated and it would not realize its desired profit, Contractor prepared a final invoice—sent to Owner in September 2014—requesting payment on a total contract price of \$854,606.00. Because the Contractor had not

---

<sup>1</sup> Owner uses “\$737,544 fixed price contract” to describe the contract generally and acknowledges that some categories of cost were on allowances and depending on the ultimate amount spent by the owner on these items the price of \$737,544 might fluctuate up or down. However, as explained in detail herein this amount could not properly fluctuate for increased costs on items that contractor bid as “fixed” price without the owner’s prior approval for such a cost increase.

submitted any change orders during the project a dispute arose as to what amount was owed under the fixed price contract. Contractor commenced this action seeking payment in excess of the contract in February 2015.

The trial court found that in a fixed price contract—as this contract was—Contractor was responsible for increased costs unless approved by Owner through a change order, which Contractor failed to do. However, the court found that the contractor’s failure to prepare a change order was waived by the Owner who did not stop Contractor from performing the unauthorized work or request Contractor prepare a change order. Incongruously, the court also determined that Owner’s issuance of a stop work order when it learned of the budget excess constituted a breach of the contract and concluded that Owner was required to pay the full balance of the Contractor’s costs plus 15% for profit and overhead, in the sum of \$958,349.00. This despite Contractor’s accounting expert testifying that this “cost plus” measure of the contract price was inconsistent with the parties’ fixed price contract.

Ultimately the Court’s ruling has the effect of judicially rewriting the parties’ contract upon terms the parties never agreed—i.e., “cost-plus contracting.”

## FACTUAL & PROCEDURAL BACKGROUND

### *a. The Fixed Price Contract*

In 2013, Owner purchased a home in Charleston County out of foreclosure in need of extensive remodeling work. For this, on January 21, 2014, the parties’ executed a \$684,035.35 “fixed price” contract on an amended AIA form which established the “[a]mount of this contract

**represents the maximum fixed price cost to complete all construction to the property interior, exterior, and landscape.** (Contract p. 1).<sup>2</sup> (emphasis added)

The contract contained an itemized construction budget labeled "Annex -1," which broke down the \$684,035.35 contract price into \$332,308.00 of "fixed price" line items and \$351,272.00 in "Allowance" line items. (Contract Annex 1); (Plaintiff's Exhibits 29 & 30); (Trsx. 220). However, on April 2, 2014, the parties executed an amended version of this budget labeled "Change Order #1" which amended the total contract price to \$737,544.00<sup>3</sup> (the "Amended Contract Amount"), allocating \$278,440.00 in "Fixed" cost line items, and \$459,104.00 in "Allowance" items. (Change Order 1); *See also* (Stoddard Testimony Trsx. p. 220). Neither the contract nor Change Order #1 contained a separate provision for any contractor fee, however, Change Order #1 simply contains a note next to the line-item "Combine Grand Total" which reads "includes contractor 15% OH&P." (Change Order #1).<sup>4</sup>

As the work progressed, Owner made all requested payments, and the trial court found that the work was substantially completed on or around August 6, 2014. (Order para 9); (Def's Exhibit 30). Although there were discussions about changing some items, Contractor did not indicate there would be any material changes to the contract price or submit any change orders during constructions. The budget problems became apparent when Contractor prepared its final

---

<sup>2</sup> The contract collectively consists of three documents: (1) the amended AIA form document, (2) an "Addendum" setting forth additional terms; and (3) an itemized construction budget labeled "Annex -1."

<sup>3</sup> The actual amount is \$737,543.70 but which is rounded to the nearest Dollar, as are all other figure contained herein.

<sup>4</sup> Contractor's expert accounting witness Stoddard improperly treated this 15% fee for overhead and profit as if it were as separate line item rather than built into the contract as a whole.

invoice on August 29, 2014<sup>5</sup>, which it subsequently provided to Owner in September 2014. (**Defs. Exhibit 4**).

As of August 29, 2014, Owner had made all requested payments on the project, totaling \$478,376. (**Defs. Exhibit 4**). However, rather than reflecting the roughly \$260,000.00 balance on the contract, the August 29 final invoice demanded \$376,228.00, as the balance of an alleged contract price of \$854,606.00—more than \$117,000.00 overbudget. After receiving this invoice, on September 7, 2014, Owner sent an email to Contractor requesting that Contractor stop all work except wall patching and painting, and the accounting documents in support of its invoice so Owner could evaluate the payment demand “since the amounts you are alleging are more than double or even triple the contracted amount.” (**Plaintiff’s Exhibit 17, p.4**). Subsequently, Owner made additional payments of roughly \$145,000.00 bringing the total amount paid to \$623,589.00. *See (Complaint & Mech.’s Lien - affidavit of account)*.

On February 9, 2015, Contractor recorded a mechanic’s lien which alleged the contract price had ballooned from the \$854,606 claimed on the final invoice on August 29, 2014, to \$944,813.00. (*Id.*) This amount again inflated to \$958,349.00 at trial in January of 2018, more than \$260,000.00 in excess of the contract amount, without additional work.

***b. The Trial***

Contractor commenced this action to foreclose on the mechanic’s lien on February 17, 2015, asserting additional claims for breach of contract and *quantum meruit*. Owner answered on March 23, 2015 and asserted *inter alia* affirmative defenses of waiver and estoppel and asserting

---

<sup>5</sup> The trial court’s order references this at times as the August 24 invoice. This appears to be a scrivener’s error.

counterclaims for breach of contract and negligence, which Contractor denied. *See (Pleadings)*.

The matter was tried before the Charleston County Master-in-Equity in January 2018.

At trial, the Contractor presented the expert testimony of Catherine Stoddard, CPA, who had been retained “to identify areas where and the reasons why the costs exceed the budget and to review the [] documentation supporting those cost overruns.” (Tr. 214, ln 4-9). Stoddard, who the court found has “considerable experience in the construction industry,” testified that the parties’ **contract was for a fixed price, and the trial court agreed.** *See (Order. p. 9, ¶ 17)*. Stoddard additionally explained the distinction that in a fixed price contract, the builder appreciates the benefit of cost savings, but likewise, “the contractor usually takes the responsibility if it goes over cost.” (Tr. P. 218, ln. 24 – p. 219, ln. 2). At trial the dispute revolved around whether the contract provided for Contractor to recover his cost overruns from Owner.

The contract provides that for any change which will *increase* the contract price, Contractor must first prepare and submit a written change order to Owner:

5. In the event of a change requested by Owner which reflects a material difference in price, contractor will submit a written change order request to reflect the actual cost plus 15%, but shall not proceed and perform any change work unless Owner signs and accepts the change order.

This provision makes clear that intent of the change order provision is to ensure there are no surprises at the end of the work by requiring the change cannot be performed until approved. A change will not automatically be assessed at cost plus 15%. Rather, the parties have set out the means through which to negotiate the proper measure of a price change *if* Contractor provides notice of a potential change and the price cannot be agreed.

#### **ARTICLE 10 CHANGES IN THE WORK**

**§ 10.1** The Owner, without invalidating the Contract, may order changes in the Work within the general scope of the Contract consisting of additions, deletions or other revisions, the Contract Sum and Contract Time being adjusted accordingly in writing. If the Owner and Contractor can not agree to a change in the Contract Sum, the Owner shall pay the Contractor its actual cost plus reasonable overhead and profit.

Conversely, when a change is made which results in the reduction of the contract price the contract does **not** require a written a change order.

3. The attached Annex-1 represents the Maximum amount to be paid by Owner for said item. In the event of a change which results in a cost reduction to said item, the amount shall be adjusted to reflect the actual cost plus 15%. A refund or credit shall be provided to Owners for said item.

See (Contract, ¶¶ 3, 5 and §10.1).

*c. Contractor's Expert Testimony*

In a "fixed price" contract—as here—Stoddard explained that the work contemplated by the contract price is set out by line item, each being designated as one of two typical categories: either a "fixed" item, or an "allowance" item. (Tr. p. 218, ln. 15-25). Further, she explained a contractor assumes the risk of cost overruns on fixed items but the owner assumes the risk of cost overruns on allowance items because a fixed price item is set by the contractor based on a specific scope of work whereas an allowance item might fluctuate based on selections that still need to be made" by the owner. (Tr. p. 219). Unlike fixed costs, which are intended to be static, the contract price will fluctuate—up or down—depending on the owner's allowance selections. (Id.) ("[i]f an allowance goes over then that's the owner's responsibility, and if it comes under that savings is also an owner's savings.").

Because Stoddard was asked "to identify areas where and the reasons why the costs exceed the budget and to review the [] documentation supporting those cost overruns" she broke down the contract price into its component parts of "fixed price" line items and "allowance" line items and compared those to the actual costs.

Category	Contract Amount	Actual Cost
Allowance	\$459,104	\$418,253
Fixed	\$278,440	\$415,098
<b>TOTAL</b>	<b>\$737,544</b>	<b>\$833,351</b>

**(Tr. p. 221 & Plaintiff's Exhibit 30 p. 10)<sup>6</sup>**

Stoddard opined that ordinarily in a fixed price contract the cost is a factor of two things: the contract price (as it may fluctuate from allowance items) plus all change orders. (Tr. p. 206). Therefore, ordinarily the contract price would first account for \$418,253 in allowances (a savings of \$40,851) as compared to the contract price, plus \$278,440 in fixed items, for a total of \$696,693. However, in this case, because Contractor spent more, he asserted he was entitled to recover all its costs plus a fee of 15% without regard for the plain language of the parties fixed price contract.

***d. The Trial Court's Ruling.***

Initially, the trial court ruled as a matter of law, this was a fixed price contract. See (Order. p. 9, Para. 17) (emphasis added). The trial court additionally found that the Contractor's failure to comply with the change order provisions of the contract was waived by Owner for failure to prevent Contractor from performing the extra work. (Order para. 37). Incongruously, the Court found that that by stopping work when it learned of the budget overages (to request documents in accordance with the contract) the Owner breached the contract by preventing Contractor from

---

<sup>6</sup> Contractor's expert witness Stoddard improperly treated this 15% fee for overhead and profit as if it were as separate line item rather than built into the contract as a whole. This causes confusion. In this way Stoddard calculates all her figures from the perspective of costs to the contractor without consideration for the fee then adds the fee back in. This neglects that the "fee" was part of the total fixed price that owner could expect to pay. For instance, if a fixed price line item has the same amount of "fee" built in regardless of what the actual cost is. By deducting this "fee" from all her cost calculations and then adding it in at the end, Stoddard is not only making her calculations confusing and misleading but, as she concedes, her analysis is inconsistent with the contract. This is further demonstrated when applied to an allowance item. Consider, for example, plumbing fixtures, which the contract provides an allowance of \$13,800.00. By Stoddard's testimony, if Owner purchased fixtures for \$13,000.00—under the provided allowance—Owner would still be "over budget" because when adding 15% to this amount it totals \$14,950. Thus, Stoddard's contention is that despite the contract clearly laying out specific amounts, each line item is actually 15% lower than what's listed, and the Owner was apparently supposed to know his allowance was \$11,730 not \$13,800 as listed in the contract.

completing work. (*Id.*) This despite finding Contractor substantially completed the work more than a month before the stop work Order.

Having found Owner's breached the fixed price contract, the trial court determined Owner was responsible to pay Contractor damages not in the amount provided under the contract, but instead for Contractor's full costs plus 15%, which the court likewise determined was properly assessable as a mechanic's lien (although not awarding foreclosure). Further, and despite having awarded damages that were different than those contracted for by the parties the court improperly found this unliquidated amount was subject to prejudgment interest. The trial court did not make any rulings in favor of Contractor on its claim for *quantum meruit*. Instead all claims were based on claimed remedies at law. (**Order pp. 18-22**). After the trial court denied Owners motions pursuant to Rule 59, SCRPC, this appeal followed. *See (Owner's Motions to Reconsider, Transcripts, and Orders from Same)*

#### STANDARD OF REVIEW

An action on a contract as well as on a mechanic's lien are both sound in law. *See Sapp v. Wheeler*, 402 S.C. 502, 507, 741 S.E.2d 565, 568 (Ct. App. 2013) (breach of contract is an action at law); *Glover v. Lewis*, 299 S.C. 44, 382 S.E.2d 242, 243 (Ct. App. 1989) (foreclosure of a mechanic's lien is an action at law). On appeal, the Master's findings on questions of law are decided with no particular deference to the trial court. *Silver v. Abstract Pools & Spas, Inc.*, 376 S.C. 585, 590, 658 S.E.2d 539, 542 (Ct. App. 2008) (in an action at law, questions of law are decided by the appellate court "with no particular deference to the trial court.") The question of "whether a contract is ambiguous," as well as "the interpretation of an unambiguous contract" are both questions of law to be reviewed by an appellate court *de novo*. *Bennett & Bennett Constr., Inc. v. Auto Owners Ins. Co.*, 405 S.C. 1, 4, 747 S.E.2d. 426, 427 (2013) (citing *South Carolina*

*Dept. of Natural Resources v. Town of McClellanville*, 345 S.C. 617, 623, 550 S.E.2d 299, 302-303 (2001)).

### ARGUMENT

The trial court's finding, as a matter of law, that the parties entered a fixed price contract is irreconcilable with its award of damages in the amount of "costs plus 15%." Likewise, to find that Owner breached the contract by stopping work when he learned of the cost overruns, but simultaneously finding the failure of Owner to stop Contractor from performing "extra" work amounted to a waiver—the court's findings are impossibly inconsistent.

Here the trial court erred by misinterpreting the parties' plain and unambiguous contract. It's conclusions of law are contradicted by its findings of fact, and therefore this Court should reverse not only the award of damages, but also the grant of prejudgment interest and the finding that the amount claimed by the Contractor was assessable as a mechanic's lien.

- I. **The trial court committed an error of law by interpreting the contract as a "cost plus" contract which is unsupported by the plain language of the agreement, the testimony of the parties, and the Court's own conclusions that the subject contract was a fixed price contract.**

The primary concern of the court interpreting a contract is to give effect to the intent of the parties, and "is governed by the objective manifestation of the parties' assent at the time the contract was made, rather than the subjective, after-the-fact meaning one party assigns to it." *Laser Supply & Servs., Inc. v. Orchard Park Assocs.*, 382 S.C. 326, 334, 676 S.E.2d 139, 143-144 (Ct. App. 2009); *Lee v. Univ. of S.C.*, 407 S.C. 512, 517, 757 S.E.2d 394, 397 (2014). A contract is not ambiguous when its meaning is clear to "a reasonably intelligent person who . . . is cognizant of the customs, practices, usages, and terminology as generally understood in the particular trade or business." *Silver*, 376 S.C. at 592, 658 S.E.2d at 543; quoting *Hawkins v. Greenwood Dev. Corp.*, 328 S.C. 585, 592, 493 S.E.2d 875, 878 (Ct. App. 1997). Where the requirements of the

contract are clear when “read as a whole” the effect of the contract is to be decided from the “four corners” of the agreement. *Id.* (quoting *McPherson v. JE Serrine & Co.*, 206 S.C. 183, 204, 33 S.E.2d 501, 509 (1945)).

**a. The trial court committed an error of law in finding that Owner breached the contract.**

Here, the trial court found Owner breached by refusing to pay the Contractor’s August 29 invoice when due, failing to pay undisputed sums after receiving the requested project cost documents supporting this invoice, and in restricting Contractor’s access to the project after receiving the final August 29 invoice. (Order p. 17, ¶ 36) (listing these three instances to constitute the extent of Owner’s breach(s)). However, this is at odds with the trial court’s findings of fact.

Consider first the trial court’s finding that the Owner breached by failing to pay the Contractor’s August 29 final invoice when due or pay the undisputed portions thereof.<sup>7</sup> (Order ¶ 36); (Order ¶ 34). This is contradictory to the Court’s conclusion that Owner has paid \$623,589, some \$145,000.00 more than what had been paid as of August 29. *See* (Defendant’s Exhibit 4) (showing payments made as of August 29 totaled \$478,376). Second, and even more inexplicably, the court makes specific mention of one payment of \$25,000 made after the invoice. *See* (Order ¶ 34). Additionally, the implication that this invoice was “due” is not supported by the language of the contract which provides, if requested, Owner is entitled to a report “from contractor’s automated billing system” supporting the amount. (Contract ¶. 4). Here Owner clearly requested this, but the evidence offered by Contractor at trial shows this “report” continued to be modified

---

<sup>7</sup> The court does not specifically list this Aug. 29 invoice as the one that was unpaid. However, there are no other invoices in the record and the balance of the Court’s order suggests this invoice is the one referenced. (Order para. 34)

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