THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM CHARLESTON COUNTY
The Honorable Mikell R. Scarborough, Master in Equity

Appellate Case No. 2018-001971

RECEIVED
JUL 12 2019
SC Court of Appeals

RS Custom Homes, n/k/a RS General Contracting, LLC, Respondent

v.

Matthew David DeNapoli, Lindsay Ann DeNapoli, and Branch Banking & Trust, and
Mortgage Electronic Registration Systems, Inc., Defendants.

Of whom Matthew David DeNapoli and Lindsay Ann DeNapoli are Appellants.

RESPONDENT'S INITIAL BRIEF

Ronald G. Tate, Jr. (S.C. Bar No. 5475)
GALLIVAN, WHITE & BOYD, P.A.
Post Office Box 10589 (29603)
55 Beattie Place, Suite 1200
Greenville, SC 29601
Telephone: (864) 271-9580

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

Owners also argue that the trial court committed an error by including a 15% markup on the additional costs. Again, Owners mischaracterize the award as an award of total costs plus a 15% markup. As previously noted, that position is inaccurate. The 15% markup is, however, authorized by the parties' contract. The specific terms of the first page of the agreement that was added to the contract form by the Owners provided at paragraph 5 that in the event of a change requested by the Owners, change orders will be billed at cost plus 15%. Having found that the Owners owed the Builder for those additional costs and having found the Owners in breach of contract, the Court properly awarded the 15% markup on those additional costs to the Builder, which was entirely consistent with the parties' agreement. South Carolina law allows the nonbreaching party to receive an award of those gains above the costs which would have been realized had the contract been performed. This principle is noted in Appellants' Brief at p. 12. *See, South Carolina Fed. Sav. Bank v. Thornton-Crosby Dev. Co., Inc.*, 303 S.C. 74, 77, 399 S.E.2d 8, 10-11 (Ct. App. 1990). The Appellants erroneously argue, however, that the trial court misinterpreted this rule to find that "the proper measure of damages in a "fixed price" contract is the contractor's total costs plus a fee of 15%" (Brief of Appellant at 13) (emphasis added). Again, the Court did not award the contractor's total costs. The Court merely awarded the Builder the costs of executing scope changes and for the additional allowance items.

On this issue, the trial court's award is consistent with South Carolina law. There is nothing in *Bensch v. Davidson*, 354 S.C. 173, 177-78, 580 S.E. 2d 128, 130 (2003) which requires a different result. Again, Appellants seek to distinguish *Bensch* from this case misconstruing the Court's award as holding Builder entitled to recover all of its costs and

disregarded the fixed price nature of the agreement. Contrary to Appellants' arguments, nothing in the Court's award was inconsistent with the contract and accordingly there was no error of law. Once again, Appellants argue that "the trial court did nothing more than adopt the 'total cost' figures testified to by Stoddard, and added a fee of 15%." (Brief of Appellant at 14) To the contrary, the trial court's award took the amount contained in the revised construction budget – a contract document⁴ – and added the scope changes and allowances in excess of the budget to arrive at the subtotal of \$958,349.00 which was the basis for the award. The actual total costs calculated by Ms. Stoddard in her July 31, 2017 expert report was \$976,189.00⁵, a figure that has no relationship whatsoever to the award. Appellants simply misconstrue the evidence in arguing that the lower court awarded Builder its "total costs."

In attacking the lower court's finding that contractual requirements concerning change orders had been waived, Owners mischaracterize the changes for which compensation was awarded. The trial court specifically found multiple scope changes were made to the agreement and that in making these scope changes, the Owners did not require strict adherence to their contract. In advancing their argument, Appellants misconstrue the types of changes that were awarded. They characterize the changes as "overruns" and resulting from "price fluctuation." (Brief of Appellants at 14-15) The changes that had been found compensable by the lower court had nothing to do with either price changes or overruns. These are wholesale changes in the scope and the quality of materials.

The Owners want to characterize their conduct as innocent and unwary. They argue that they were left with no reason to suspect a change order was needed or to know that they needed

⁴ See, Plaintiff's Exhibit 4, Change Order worksheet and Plaintiff's Exhibit 5, Change Order 1, Tr. ___ and ___.

⁵ Plaintiff's Exhibit 29, page 9 of report (Tr. ____).

to stop the work in order to avoid waiver. (Brief of Appellants at 16). Under the facts as found, the Owners were obviously aware of the changes when they directed them or when they selected the materials to be incorporated into their home. In cherry-picking one item – interior trim – to represent a “quintessential example of a cost overrun” (Appellants’ Brief at 18), Appellants fail to note that evidence of interior trim as a scope change was presented at trial and was included in the trial court’s Findings of Fact. Ms. Stoddard testified regarding this item and stated that the trim work was required because of the type of concrete walls that were present in the house before Builder began its work. She also explained that the Builder had to retrofit doors to fit the space which required additional trim. (Tr. p. ___; transcript of record 222-223) The trial court’s finding on this point is not subject to attack because it is supported by evidence at trial.

Appellants also mischaracterized the Court’s findings relating to door selection. Appellants acknowledge that no formal change order was prepared and that emails existed in which the Owners acknowledged cost increases due to doors. Appellants argue, however, that by agreeing to pay additional costs for doors, they did not intend to convert the “fixed price contract to a cost-plus for the entire project.” The trial court certainly did not find that the changes to doors agreed by the Owners converted the entire agreement to a cost-plus arrangement. The doors are a good example of how the contract was administered and how waiver arose in the course of performance. Ms. Stoddard testified concerning the doors at some length. Due to Owners’ decisions, the doors evolved from an MDF-type door throughout the house, to some doors being stain-grade as shown in the revised construction budget, to providing an allowance for a master bedroom door, to ultimately selecting stain grade knotty pine or knotty alder radius top doors at considerable additional cost. There were four additional doors of

similar type that were not accounted for in the original quantities shown on contract documents. (Tr. p. ____; trial transcript pp. 232-233; Plaintiff's Exhibit 25)

Under the Owners' approach to the case, when the Builder acquiesced to Owners' material selections and scope changes, his right of recovery would be limited to the door budget contained in the revised construction budget since there was no change order. (See generally Brief of Appellant at 20 and 10.) Somehow, Owners use this evidence of waiver and the Builder's clear entitlement to compensation for these additional and changed doors as evidence that the trial court erred in finding waiver under the contract. Rather than supporting an argument that the trial court made an error in awarding these additional costs, the issue of doors provides further support for the trial judge's decision. There was ample evidence in the record to support the Court's Finding of Fact that the Owners waived contractual provisions by their course of dealing and the course of performance of the contract.

II. The trial court correctly held that pre-judgment interest was properly awardable on sums that were capable of being reduced to certainty when payment was demandable.

The trial court properly determined that Builder's claim was subject to prejudgment interest. As the Court noted, an obligation to pay money is subject to prejudgment interest if the sum is certain or capable of being reduced to certainty. (Tr. p. ____, Order p. 22) In *Butler Contracting, Inc. v. Court Street, LLC*, 369 S.C. 121, 133-34, 631 S.E.2d 252, 259 (2006), the plaintiff subcontractor was entitled to prejudgment interest notwithstanding what the trial court determined was a "good faith dispute" and the general contractor's assertion of substantial offsets for delay damages. The Supreme Court held the trial court erred in refusing to award the subcontractor prejudgment interest, stating:

The amount Contractor owed Subcontractor was a sum certain or capable of being reduced to a certainty based on contractual provisions regarding the amount of the

original contract, the amount of change orders approved by Contractor, and payments made by Contractor. In this case the trial court should have awarded prejudgment interest to Subcontractor after determining the amount Contractor owed Subcontractor. Furthermore, Contractor's assertion of a counterclaim seeking an offset does not prevent an award of prejudgment interest because it is the character of the claim and not the defense to it that determines whether prejudgment interest is allowable.

369 S.C. 121, 134-35, 631 S.E.2d at 259 (emphasis added).

The decision of *Miller Construction Co., LLC v PC Construction of Greenwood, Inc.*, 418 S.C. 186, 791 S.E.2d 321 (Ct. App. 2016) further illuminates the issue. There, this Court noted that the right of a party to prejudgment interest is not affected by any right of discount or offset claimed by the opposing party. "It is the character of the claim and not the defense to it that determines whether prejudgment interest is allowable" (418 S.C. at 207, 791 S.E.2d at 333), quoting *Butler Contracting*, 369 S.C. 121, 133-34, 631 S.E.2d 252, 259 (2006). In *Miller*, the general contractor admitted that the contract balance owed to the subcontractor was a certain amount yet the general contractor attempted to prove that it was entitled to completely offset that amount by delay damages. The court held that prejudgment interest was awardable but remanded because there was an insufficient record to determine at what point a sum certain claim accrued. *Id.* at 208, 791 S.E. 2d at 333.

Owners argue that prejudgment interest is not available where the parties did not agree to a calculation of amounts due. They contend that *Southern Welding Works, Inc. v. K&S Construction Co.*, 286 S.C. 158, 332 S.E.2d 102 (Ct. App. 1985) stands for the proposition that prejudgment interest should be denied in the absence of a stated account or a means of calculating a liquidated sum. Owners read far too much into the *Southern Welding* holding. *Southern Welding* was tried on a claim for a stated account, yet the plaintiff in that case presented no evidence that there was an agreed price for the repairs that Southern Welding

undertook. The Court of Appeals held that the trial court correctly ruled that prejudgment interest was not allowed. *Southern Welding* is distinguishable because here there is a mechanism for valuing the work accomplished by the Builder. The contract provides for change orders to be priced at cost-plus 15%. The trial court properly decided that the Owners waived strict application of the change provisions and properly determined that Builder was entitled to recover for those changes. To the extent Owners argue that the contract documents fail to provide sufficient basis for valuing these changes at cost-plus 15%, they ignore the very language that they placed in the contract, at paragraph 5 on the first page of the contract which states change orders are to be priced accordingly. There was a sufficiently definite basis for valuing scope changes and allowance exceedances and the changes were properly valued on that basis.

Moreover, the evidence supports the interest accrual date. Ms. Stoddard testified that the last invoice dated August 29, 2014 served as an appropriate basis for the running of interest. In other words, at that point in time the claim was capable of being reduced to a sum certain, and appropriate credits could have been taken to calculate it. Appellants seem to also argue that \$958,349.00 was the basis for the prejudgment interest calculation. (Appellants' Brief at 23) Their argument is mistaken. That amount is simply the subtotal of the revised construction budget amount plus scope changes and allowances in excess of budget as found by the trial court. The interest was calculated on the basis of the net amount owed by the Owners to the Builder, \$313,453.90. (Order, p. 17, Tr. ___) This amount was net all payments made by the Owners, and net of several credits that were found by the trial court to be applied to reach the net award. The award of prejudgment interest should accordingly stand.

III. The trial court's enforcement of the Builder's mechanic's lien must be affirmed because Appellants raised the issues of timeliness and the amount of the lien for the first time in their motion to reconsider, and the evidence at trial supports its validity and timeliness.

The trial court correctly found that RS Custom Homes was entitled to recover under the mechanic's lien statute. For the very first time in their Rule 59 motion to reconsider, Owners raised the issue of whether the mechanic's lien was valid. Owners contended there was a lack of evidence in the record to show that the mechanic's lien was filed within 90 days of Builder's last work. In so doing, the Owners are attempting to use a Rule 59(e) motion to advance an issue that they could have raised in the trial court before judgment but failed to do so. *Hickman v. Hickman*, 301 S.C. 455, 456, 392 S.E.2d 481, 482 (Ct. App. 1990); *Johnson v. Sonoco Prod. Co.*, 381 S.C. 172, 177, 672 S.E.2d 567, 570 (2009); *Stevens and Wilkinson of S.C., Inc. v. City of Columbia*, 409 S.C. 563, 567, 762 S.E.2d 693, 695 (2014). Therefore, the issue is not preserved for appeal.

The purpose of a motion to reconsider a judgment is "to request the trial judge to 'reconsider matters properly encompassed in a decision on the merits.'" *Coward Hund Constr. Co., Inc. v. Ball Corp.*, 336 S.C. 1, 4, 518 S.E.2d 56, 58 (Ct. App. 1999); *See also Elam v. S.C. Dep't of Transp.*, 361 S.C. 9, 21, 602 S.E.2d 772, 778 (2004); Rule 59(e), SCRCP. Under South Carolina law, a Rule 59(e) motion is appropriate when a party believes the court has misunderstood, failed to fully consider, or perhaps failed to rule on an argument or issue and when an issue or argument has been raised, but not ruled on, in order to preserve it for appellate review. *Elam* at 24; *Smith v. Fedor*, 422 S.C. 118, 126, 809 S.E.2d 612, 616 (Ct. App. 2017) (finding that issues were not preserved for appeal when first raised in a motion for reconsideration under Rule 59(e)).

To illustrate, in *Hickman*, the Court of Appeals held that the wife in a divorce proceeding could not raise the issue of apportioning her husband's civil service retirement fund for the first time within her Rule 59(e) motion for reconsideration. *Hickman* at 456. Similarly, in *Johnson*, the defendant in a workers compensation action argued for the first time in its Rule 59(e) motion that the circuit court did not have the authority to award interest and assess nonpayment penalties laid out within the Workers' Compensation Act. The court rejected the argument, holding that the issue was not properly preserved for appellate review because the issue was not raised until the defendant's Rule 59(e) motion. *Johnson* at 177.

Finally, in *Stevens and Wilkinson*, the plaintiff was a construction company that filed an action for breach of contract against the City of Columbia. Throughout litigation, the defendant argued *only* that there was no enforceable contract between the parties. *Id.* at 564. On motion for partial summary judgment, the only issue for determination was whether there was an enforceable contract between the parties. *Id.* at 567. The circuit court granted partial summary judgment in favor of the plaintiff, finding that the plaintiff's estimate constituted a valid offer and that the defendant accepted the same when it authorized payment on "seemingly modified terms." *Id.* Therefore, there was a valid contract. *Id.* Subsequently, the defendant filed a Rule 59(e) motion, arguing for the first time that the authorization was not an acceptance, but a counteroffer. *Id.* On appeal to the Supreme Court of South Carolina, the Court determined that the issue was limited to the existence of a contract and allowing the defendant to add new theories and issues post-judgment would be improper. *Id.* at 568

Like the defendant in *Stevens and Wilkinson* who failed to raise additional alternate theories regarding the payment authorization, Appellants are attempting to add new defenses through their Rule 59(e) motion. No issue of timeliness was raised at any time prior to the

judgment. Accordingly, this Court should not consider Appellants' timeliness argument and the issue was not preserved for appeal.

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